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SERVICE SIX Trustees’ REPORT YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

The Trustees are pleased to present their report and the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 
2017, which are also prepared to meet the requirements for a directors’ report and accounts for Companies 
Act purposes.

OBJECTIVES AND ACTIVITIES

Objects of Charity

The charity’s purposes as set out in the objects contained in the company’s Memorandum of Association are 
to:

Provide advice and support to the children, youth, families and communities of Northamptonshire and 
surrounding areas through the provision of counselling services, group work and educational workshops, 
conferences and information campaigns relating to youth issues and sexual health issues.

The charity’s achievements and plans for future periods are detailed in the Chairperson’s report, Chief 
Executive’s Report and Treasurer’s report.

STRUCTURE, GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT 

Governing Document
The organisation is a charitable company limited by guarantee, incorporated on 4 November 2008 and 
registered as a charity on 5 November 2009. The company was established under a Memorandum of 
Association which established the objects and powers of the charitable company and is governed under its 
Articles of Association. The company formerly operated as an unincorporated registered charity registered 
in 1979.

Recruitment and Appointment of Trustees
Trustees of Service Six are recruited and appointed in accordance with the Recruiting Trustee & Personnel 
Policy and associated Succession Planning processes. The organisation seeks to increase trustee numbers with 
additional or specialist skills and abilities to add to the existing range of expertise of the Board of Trustees and 
in accordance with the regulations of the Charity Commission of England & Wales and Companies House.

Trustee Induction and Training
The Trustees have developed a Recruiting Trustee & Personnel Policy, associated Succession Planning 
processes and a Board Improvement Plan within the organisation which includes the recruitment, induction 
and training of Trustees.

Organisational Structure
The organisational structure is outlined within an approved set of Standing Orders which clearly define the 
duties and powers of the Board of Trustees, Directors and Executive personnel. The Standing Orders outlines 
appropriately approved delegated powers and authorisation available to the Chief Executive with regard to 
company finance, personnel and associated processes.
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Related Parties

Related party transactions are detailed in note 17. The company does not have any related parties in respect 
of larger umbrella, affiliated or associated companies or organisations. Service Six is a member of: the British 
Association for Counselling & Psychotherapy, Youth Access, National Youth Agency, Northamptonshire 
Chamber, Association of Chief Executives of Voluntary Organisations and the National Council for Voluntary 
Organisations.

Service Six works with a wide range of corporate, statutory and voluntary sector organisations including 
Northamptonshire Domestic Abuse Services, Goodwill Solutions and Commsortia. Other partner agencies 
include; East Midlands Special Operations Unit, The Faraway Children’s Charity, The Education Fellowship, 
Voluntary Impact Northamptonshire, Milton Keynes Community Foundation, Asda, Places for People, Scott 
Bader Ltd, Weatherby’s and Richmond Villages amongst many others.

Risk Management

The Trustees of Service Six undertake regular risk assessment processes in consultation with the Chief 
Executive. The main risk highlighted within 2016-2017 has been the decommissioning of Northamptonshire 
County Council Supporting Services contracts due to their policy changes. This had a subsequent impact on the 
organisation, its services and beneficiaries. The charity's commitment and actions towards making a positive 
difference along side our robust reserves policy ensured that this risk has been mitigated, investing sufficient 
reserves in the short and medium term to perform essential services whilst maintaining key personnel with 
the skills to manage administrative and income generating activities. 

As part of the risk management process, Service Six's Finance Committee undertook a full assessment of the 
financial risk facing the charity, assessing their potential impact and likelihood of occurrence.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Reserves Policy
At 31 March 2017 the free reserves balance stood at £437,036, where free reserves are calculated as the 
balance of the general unrestricted fund, less the value of illiquid fixed assets. As explained above there has 
been a significant reduction in the charity’s contract income and in the year to 31 March 2017, the charity 
utilised free reserves to ensure essential activities are maintained. It is the charity’s policy to hold reserves 
equivalent to six month’s running costs and whilst in the early stages of the year ending 31 March 2017 this 
will be achieved, the aforementioned reduction will mean that reserves (and income and expenditure levels) 
will need to be regularly and closely monitored and action taken as appropriate.

Public Benefit Statement
The Trustees of Service Six have complied with their duty to have due regard to the guidance on public 
benefit published by the Charity Commission of England & Wales in exercising their powers and duties.

Principal Funding Sources
The principal funding sources and how expenses have supported the key objectives of the charity for the year 
are detailed within this report and the financial statements.
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CHAIRPERSON’S REPORT

Service Six as an organisation has at its core the profound skills of the counsellor, practitioner 
and therapist - active listening, solutions focussed and led by the needs of the client.  2016/17 
has seen those skills honed and refined, not just by the expertise of all our staff on the ground 
but also through the reflection and dedication of our Trustee board, support staff, stakeholders 
and our partners.  We have, once again, reinvented our delivery through a ‘Needs Led’ approach 

responding to the voices of children, young people and families in the communities where we work, utilising our 
reserves to deliver in accordance with our charitable aims.  On behalf of the Trustees I would like to express our 
sincere appreciation to all our partners who have worked alongside us in this transition and in particular to our 
funders – locally and nationally – who have recognised this commitment and supported our vision.  Without the 
funding from the range of organisations you will see in the Accounts that follow we could not exist and could 
not help the children, young people and families in the ways that we do.  Thank you for your grants, gifts and 
investment on behalf of the individuals that we have supported this year.  

We have seen considerable changes in our staffing with Jane Deamer leaving to pursue a new career and 
Claudia Slabon taking over the role as Chief Executive, having served as Assistant Chief Executive since 2011.  
Jane worked tirelessly for the charity and her inspirational and entrepreneurial approach is a remarkable legacy 
for the organisation moving forward.  Jane led the charity to county-wide and then regional delivery, building 
partnerships and new ways of working that would have been hard to imagine when Service Six was founded in 
1979.  Claudia, originally from East Germany, worked for the charity from 2007 to 2009 as a Support Worker and 
Deputy Service Manager and returned after two years in Devon as a Deputy Family Service Manager, initially as 
a Sessional Support Worker.  The knowledge gained working directly with communities in the county has been 
significantly useful in supporting the operational delivery plans for this next phase of Service Six.  

I would like to express appreciation to my fellow Trustees for their support over the past year.  Beyond regular 
meetings, Trustees support the work through visits, informal meetings and being part of our Committee structure.  
Finance, HR and Governance Committee Meetings are held to provide the appropriate challenge and support to 
ensure we are compliant, effective and forward thinking.  I would like to thank Syrita Foster who resigned as a 
Trustee during the year, particularly for her HR expertise and formally welcome Andrea Wood who joined us in 
May 2016.  As Chair there are two key voluntary roles within a Trustee Board – Vice Chair and Treasurer.  I am 
so grateful for the expertise of Paul Beesley, our Treasurer, for his insight, clarity and perspective that supports 
our finance team to have attention to detail and risk awareness alongside a committed passion for the work.  
My personal particular thanks to David Culwick, Vice Chair, for his remarkable wisdom, calm disposition and 
thoughtful reflection, which has been so helpful this year as we have dealt with the challenges of changes in 
delivery and staffing alongside perfecting the art of Trusteeship – to balance determining strategy and enabling 
our staff.  

Service Six remains solutions focussed, actively listening to the voice of the child and young person and creating 
supportive, constructive, bespoke programmes to provide a helping hand to enable individuals to change their 
lives.  

Rachel Mallows MBE DL
Chairperson
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TREASURER’S REPORT

Since joining the Board of Trustees and being appointed Treasurer in September 2013, it has 
been my role to oversee the financial management of Service Six.  I am delighted to report that 
our finances for the year ended 31 March 2017 have been audited and once again show a clean 
bill of health. Having a sustainable financial position is so important for those who depend so 
much on our services, not to mention those who work so hard at Service Six to deliver them. 
As usual you will find details in our Statement of Financial Activities at the back of this annual 

report, together with the report of our independent auditors.

As Treasurer my role has two areas of focus:

• To oversee the financial practice of Service Six. This is very much about taking an operational view, making sure 
that our processes are in place and are working efficiently and effectively to deliver on our commitments. I am 
delighted to say that our auditors have confirmed that our processes are robust and remain fit for purpose. 
This is very reassuring to me and to the other members of our Board of Trustees.

• To provide a strategic view of our finances and where appropriate recommend to our Board of Trustees, courses 
of action to safeguard Service Six going forward.  In a world where certainty continues to be in short supply, 
my attitude towards risk remains low. We also pay strong attention to the Charity Commission guidelines. 

The year 2016-17 has proven to be a period of transition and adjustment. Given our prudent approach to financial 
management, our total reserves stood at £721,709 at 31 March 2017, whilst free reserves were £437,036 This is 
well in line with our strategy and Charity Commission guidelines as we maintain a balance equivalent to at least 
six months’ worth of running costs in reserve. 

Looking ahead, we will continue to focus on securing more funding and making efficiencies to ensure our long-
term sustainability. Our plan remains to continue to keep our running costs to a minimum, whilst at the same time 
ensuring we provide the best value for the community we serve. 

At Service Six we have a small yet dedicated team who manage our finances. I would like to thank everyone 
involved for their hard work in supporting our financial management throughout 2016-17. This has enabled our 
leadership team and our Board of Trustees to continue to have the information they need to lead and manage 
Service Six in such a professional and ethical way.
 
Paul Beesley
Treasurer
Service Six
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REPORT 

2016-17 has been the most challenging year for Service Six in almost 40 years due to losing vital 
services countywide through funding cuts and the fear of the impact on clients and communities 
as a result of this. As an organisation we have worked through lots of changes throughout the 
last year and adapted rapidly to stabilise Service Six. 

At the heart of our work is our firm commitment to respond to the increasingly complex needs 
of a growing number of the community’s most vulnerable, hard to reach and disadvantaged 

members directly delivering bespoke and Needs Led services to over 2,000 beneficiaries. Outcomes have led to 
healthier, happier and safer lives with transferable skills and resilience to meet future challenges.  

This report reflects our evidence and case studies to demonstrating the range of services we offer and maximized 
positive outcomes for some of our communities’ most needy members by improving wellbeing, health, and 
mental health, social and economic outcomes. For example, our commitment to the integration and actions of 
co-production has enabled us to keep our strategy and deliver relevant and responsive services to identified 
and emerging needs. The voice of our beneficiaries is at the heart of all our work as they work with us as equal 
partners, guiding the organisation towards the most appropriate and innovative method of service delivery. Over 
1,800 children and young people engaged in co-production activities throughout the year to support us in fulfilling 
needs and gaps in current service provision. This resulted in Service Six re-affirming our commitment to directly 
respond to identified needs in Northamptonshire, particularly for children who are disadvantaged, vulnerable and 
living in poverty. The introduction of our Needs Led model throughout all our work enables us to work with and 
for, children and young people through a sincere and open communication and co-production strategy. 

We have continued to focus on quality assurance by maintaining our British Association for Counselling & 
Psychotherapy (BACP) Accredited Service status. Our therapeutic services continued to grow with increased 
commissions and additional NHS income within the year as demand for Youth Counselling services grew. We 
were pleased about the extension of our successful Post Sexual Abuse Pathway Contract and were delighted to 
have received our first NHS England funding to provide a Child Interpersonal Sexual Violence Advisor (ISVA) within 
the county’s Sexual Assault Referral Centre (SARC). We continued with the provision of our Play Therapy service, 
Smiles, as part of our core services having received increased queries for therapeutic interventions for children 
under 10 years old to support their emotional wellbeing and mental health.

With ever decreasing availability of public funds and local authority services, combined with increasing populations 
and demand by those with complex and diverse needs, we are tasked to achieve "more with less" whilst working at 
greater depth with higher numbers of vulnerable people. Within our services we noted an increase of 41% in the 
number of children and young people who were at significant risk of harm due to the exposure to some form of 
abuse. Continuing with our Safeguarding Working Group, we are demonstrating our commitment to meeting the 
needs of the most vulnerable children and young people, promoting strong and effective collaboration working 
with other organisations and professionals.

Given the unprecedented challenges facing society, communities and families, Service Six is determined to 
maintain our listening ears, provide high quality professional services, ensure robust safeguarding measures and 
to continue to deliver the best and added value across services and counties. Through our Independent Needs Led 
Strategy and Sustainability Strategy we are responding to the identified needs of vulnerable children and young 
people. As part of this strategy, our Board agreed expenditure from reserves within 2016-18 to safeguard existing 
and future services for very vulnerable children and to support the associated transition.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REPORT

In November we celebrated the launch of our Youth Starz Project in Milton Keynes, funded by the Big Lottery over 
the next three years. This was the result of our successful partnership with Places for People in Northamptonshire 
which crossed over into Buckinghamshire through the launch of our community centre in Coffee Hall Milton Keynes 
in September 2015. The Youth Starz project provides a wide range of free support services for disadvantaged 
children and young people in the areas of Woughton and Central Milton Keynes.  

We are especially proud of young people’s initial interest, energy and commitment to co-produce our new project 
TARGET, which focuses on Targeting and Reducing Grooming, Exploitation and Trading of children and young people 
online. Throughout the year we have been listening to 1,001 children and young people across Northamptonshire 
and Leicestershire to capture their understanding and experiences of online behaviour in relation to Online Sexual 
Exploitation and Abuse (OSEA). At the heart of this process was our openness to learn, change and adapt and 
mitigate risk directly fed back into integrated actions for the benefit of our vulnerable beneficiaries. This resulted 
in Service Six receiving funding from the Big Lottery to implement and further develop our TARGET project over 
the next three years across Northamptonshire and Leicestershire, starting in April 2017.

We continued to lead on and actively engage in collaborative cross sector partnership opportunities, in particular 
the further development of the Positive Pathway Alliance (PPA) with a Co-operative Community Interest Company 
structure. PPA is an innovative, corporate charitable collaboration for the benefit of disadvantaged members of 
the community, exploring new approaches of working to meet social need. In December we launched our ‘Need 
Not Waste’ pilot project in partnership with Richmond Villages to change ‘waste’ into ‘win’ for disadvantaged 
individuals and communities by recycling, selling and redistributing corporate waste goods, initially mobility aids 
and furnishings, enabling access to affordable resources for diverse vulnerable beneficiaries. 

We are delighted to be in a strong position moving forward into 2017-2018; however the future still holds many 
challenges and opportunities for Service Six. Forthcoming developments include further growth as a regional 
charity as we move into Leicestershire in partnership with De Montfort University and the many opportunities 
presented by the Positive Pathway Alliance collaboration.

I would like to extend my great appreciation to Jane Deamer, who made the decision to stand down as CEO 
of Service Six after 17 years. With her wisdom, experience, strength, innovative ideas and passion for children 
and young people, Jane has enabled Service Six to provide and develop life-changing and life-saving services for 
our most vulnerable community members. It has been an honour working and 
learning alongside Jane over the last 10 years and I am mindful to continue 
her legacy of improvement and innovation throughout our work to ensure we 
maintain Service Six’s quality, transparent and responsive services and their 
impact on the lives of children, young people, adults and families within the 
region.

Finally I would like to thank our dedicated, knowledgeable and skilled team 
who have an excellent reputation of delivering quality assured services. 
None of this work would be possible without their passion, expertise and 
patience. I am very proud of their achievements and their relentless drive 
for meeting the needs of the people we serve and our funders. Thank you 
for your wonderful support. 

Claudia Slabon,
Chief Executive Chief Executive, Claudia Slabon 

and former Chief Executive Jane Deamer
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Case Study Information

Throughout the annual report we have used case studies to demonstrate the positive outcomes our 
beneficiaries achieve within our services. The following provides a background to the nationally credible 
measurement tools we use to assess, review and evaluate the impact of our services. Most of these measures 
are included within the report case studies. 

Pierce Suicide Intent Scale (Pierce, D.W. 1977)

This tool is ordinarily used where a client has previously attempted suicide but can be used to measure 
expressions of suicidal ideation. The tool uses twelve criteria such as isolation, timing and precautions against 
rescue to score the clients intent to commit suicide. The score analysis is as follows:

• 0 – 3 = Low Intent; 
• 4 – 10 = Medium Intent; 
• More than 10 = High Intent.

The higher the score total the higher the client’s intent to commit suicide. The tool is used in conjunction 
with our Suicide Risk Assessment & Management Policy and Clinical Risk Assessment & Management Policy. 

GAD7 (Anxiety Scale)

This tool is ordinarily used to measure anxiety with clients. The tool uses seven questions including restlessness, 
worry and nervousness to score clients anxiety levels. The score analysis is as follows:

• 0-5 mild; 
• 6-10 moderate;
• 11-15 moderately severe anxiety; 
• 15-21 severe anxiety.

PHQ9 (Low Mood)

This tool is ordinarily used to measure depression indicators and frequency with clients over the last two 
week period. The tool uses nine questions including feelings, concentration and appetite to score the clients 
mood. The score analysis is as follows:

• 0-5 = mild; 
• 6-10 = moderate; 
• 11-15 = moderately severe; 
• 16-20 = severe depression.   
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Strengths & Difficulties Questionnaires (SDQ) Goodman, R.N.

This tool is ordinarily used to measure behaviour within children aged 2 to 17 years. The tool uses twenty five 
questions within five key areas to score behaviour as normal, borderline abnormal or abnormal responses. 
The five areas of behaviour being measured are emotional, conduct, hyperactivity, peer and pro-social skills. 
The questionnaire can be completed as a self-report and or by a parent or carer and a teacher. The score 
analysis is as follows: 

Parent report:
0-13: Normal behaviour
14-16: Borderline abnormal behaviour
17 and above: Abnormal behaviour

Teacher report:
0-11: Normal behaviour
12-15: Borderline abnormal behaviour
15 and above: Abnormal behaviour

My Goal

This tool has been developed by Service Six and helps clients to identify their 3 main goals to be achieved 
through our services and support. They then rate their current position re the goal by scoring from 1 to 10 
with 1 being the lowest achievement / progress and 10 the highest achievement / progress. As services are 
delivered clients are supported to track their progress with their goals to see if they’ve achieved what they 
wanted and needed.

Anger Thermometer

This tool helps clients to recognise and understand their anger. The process enables clients to self-report 
their experience of anger (emotionally, psychologically and physically) on a scale of 1 to 10 with 1 being the 
least anger and 10 being the highest level of anger. In recognizing the triggers which increase their scale of 
anger and learning strategies to reduce the level of anger, clients can learn new skills in anger management 
and healthier expression of their frustrations and fears.  

Worry Scale 

This tool helps clients to recognise and understand their anxieties and enables clients to self-report their 
worries about every-day matters or specific situations. The scale assesses 6 domains of worries and is 
designed to be relatively easy and quick for clients to complete.  The client is asked to rate on a 10-point 
scale: 0 - ‘Very Relaxed’, 2 - ‘Not Sure’, 4 - ‘A Bit Worried’, 6 - Worried’, 8 - ‘Very Worried’ or 10 - ‘Extremely 
Worried’ to specify how they are currently feeling. The score provides the Practitioner with an indication of 
the nature and extent of the client’s worries and anxiety to assist in the supporting intervention process.

CORE-YP

In 2017 we will be introducing a new outcome measure tool, which is nationally recognised and recom-
mended by Youth Access who are supporting the Youth Information, Advice and Counselling Services 
(YIACS) nationally.

The CORE-YP is a single sided questionnaire with 10 items and a 0-4 scoring system which can be used pre 
and post intervention or session by session.



12

MEETING OUR COMMUNITIES’ GREATEST NEEDS

Safeguarding

Safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children, young people and adults at risk, in particular protecting 
them from harm, depends on effective joint working between agencies and professionals that have different 
roles and expertise.   
 
Service Six is committed to the development of effective partnerships with other agencies with responsibility 
for supporting children, young people and adults at risk and to identifying the mechanisms required to 
support this process.

Since April 2016 Service Six prioritized Safeguarding within the organisation. Placing a commitment and 
approach to 4 key elements:

1. Priority to safeguard children and advocate for them beyond services.

2. Ethical commitment to children’s safety and to challenge all statutory systems and practice to achieve 
this outcome.

3. Meet and respond to the challenge of increased capacity and complexity within safeguarding across a 
range of services.

4. Low risk threshold.

During the year we noticed an average of 14 internal Safeguarding Records of Concerns per week being 
submitted to the organisation’s Designated Safeguarding Officer. This resulted in an average of 93 active cases 
at any one time, which needed monitoring and additional support and an average of 28 active cases which 
required a step up into Social Care. The top three causes for Safeguarding concerns were suicide ideation, 
mental health issues and exposures to abuse and neglect. Throughout the year the number of safeguarding 
actions we had to undertake increased by 43%.  

The top three local areas identified within 
the organisation for Safeguarding concerns 
were Northampton, Wellingborough and East 
Northamptonshire. During our weekly triage 
meetings we also identified the top three referral 
causes which showed that 25% of children and young 
people accessing our services have been exposed to 
some form of abuse.

The completion of the Section 11 Audit demonstrated 
100% proficiency within the organisation, with the 
recommendations of a bi-annual review. Individual 
client mapping took place in relation to the county 
and legal thresholds of Social Care and the community 
Child and Adolescent Mental Health teams.  The 
mapping demonstrated the need and demand within 
the county for statutory services.

The year also saw Service Six undertaking weekly Triage and Safeguarding meetings, monthly Safeguarding 
Working Group meetings, the development of a Safeguarding good practice model across inter-agency and 
partner organisation working, an effective Safeguarding training plan and SWOT analysis on Social Care 
assessment tools.

Clients Protection Safer Safeguarding Model
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MEETING OUR COMMUNITIES’ GREATEST NEEDS

Therapeutic Services

Service Six offer a range of British Association for Counselling & Psychotherapy 
(BACP) Accredited Service therapeutic services for age 5 years and over including 
Play Therapy, Youth Counselling, Adult Counselling and Family Therapy. 

We provided on average 150+ therapy sessions per week to NHS Nene Clinical 
Commissioning Group, Northamptonshire Health Foundation Trust (NHFT), Local 
Authorities, Schools, Companies and Private Commissions. Within the past year we 
received a total of 433 referrals into our NHS Youth Counselling contract, 63 within our NHFT Post Sexual 
Abuse Pathway contract and 262 within our East Northamptonshire Council Community Support Grant.

NHS Northamptonshire Clinical Commissioning Group funding for Youth Counselling 
continued to provide vital professional therapy services for young people between 
the ages 10-18 years (up to 25 for Disabled young people), living in Daventry, East 
Northamptonshire, Northampton, South Northamptonshire and Wellingborough.
Most clients were seen on an average of seven sessions (including clinical assessment) with a clearly agreed 
focus and goals designed to be realistic to meet their desired outcomes.

Service Six has continued a fifth year to work with children and 
young people across the county within the NHFT Post Sexual 
Abuse Pathway Contract (PSAP). The service is targeted at children, young people and families who have 
experienced sexual abuse. All referrals are received via Serenity who undertake assessments with potential 
clients as part of an immediate response. The services provided include Play Therapy, Counselling and Support 
Plus and can be offered to parents too. Individual care plans are tailored to bespoke needs. 

Whilst Play Therapy has provided very successful interventions for children who do not have the vocabulary 
to voice what has happened to them, older clients can use talking therapy and creative materials to express 
themselves. In practice many older clients also use art work or other materials to process inner dilemmas.

Serenity not only receives and monitors all referrals but also offers continued support to the clients and 
their immediate families as and when needed. Many clients have on-going court cases which require our 
counsellors to be especially careful in following strict protocol prior to any judgment. Given the seriousness 
of the presenting issues most clients are seen for medium to long term support. Clients report that the 
therapy they received was invaluable in helping them to come to terms with the abuse and in finding new 
coping strategies.

Service Six continued for a third year to work within the East Northamptonshire Community 
Support Grant, providing bespoke intervention programs to children, young people and 
adults living in East Northamptonshire. The service focuses on informal education and 
awareness campaigns on topics affecting community members and Support Plus and 
Therapy services, enabling clients to achieve positive and sustainable outcomes.

A very big thank you to all our therapy funders and commissioners including
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MEETING OUR COMMUNITIES’ GREATEST NEEDS

Therapeutic Services

We have completed 4,272 therapy sessions with 579 clients.
Within the year:

• We have seen a 48% increase in demand for therapy
• We received an average of 89 new referrals per month
• The majority of referrals have been received from the Referral Management Centre (RMC) alongside self-

referrals
• We have noted a marked increase in the complexity of presenting issues and mental health needs
• 95% of clients achieved their top 3 desired positive outcomes
• 26% of clients self-selected out of the service before or during delivery
• 100% of completed clients would recommend our service to a friend
• 100% of completed clients rated our overall service as Excellent or Good
• We have operated a waiting list with clients on average waiting no longer than 12 weeks (the NHS national 

clinical expected standard for waiting time is up to 13 weeks)
• We have had an increase in requests for case related court reports
• We have had an increased number of Safeguarding Records of Concern submitted by therapists to our 

Designated Safeguarding Officer

From our referrals we were able to collate the top three presenting symptoms as anxiety, anger and depres-
sion, closely followed by self-harm, low self-esteem, trauma and feeling suicidal amongst many others. It is 
worth pointing out that these symptoms are mainly based on the voices of social workers, teachers and par-
ents with the voice of the child rarely included. In terms of underlying data the top three causal presenting 
issues exposed family issues, abuse (including Domestic Abuse) and school difficulties, closely followed by 
bereavement, bullying and parents or siblings mental health.

Therapeutic Department Referral Causes 2016 -2017

Bullying Issues 9%

Family/Relationship Issues 30%

School/Education Issues 16%

Abuse/Rape Issues (including Domestic Abuse) 25%

Bereavement Issues 13%

Parents/Siblings Mental Health Issues 7%

Therapeutic Department Referral Symptoms 2016 -2017

Low Self-Esteem 26%

Anxiety 55%

Depression / Low Mood 47%

Anger 53%

Self-Harm 31%

Challenging / Risk Taking Behaviour 13%

Some clients experienced more than one symptom
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Feedback from Young People

‘During the sessions I have gained more confidence and found it easier to explain how I feel and to get my 
feelings out and explain my feelings and emotions.’

‘I have been having fun and I can now forgive ***** and have been able to get through everything.’

‘I found my therapist absolutely amazing. She helped me realise and confront my eating and helped me stay 
on track. She listened to the problems that contributed and helped me understand why I feel the way I do and 
helped me in my journey to self-satisfaction.’

Feedback from Adults

‘It has been a safety blanket that has allowed me to do more things.  I've really liked having a safe space to 
discuss my problems with someone who doesn't belittle them and understands. Thank you.’ 

‘By using the service I have found it much easier to talk to people when I am feeling anxious or upset and low.  
I have also found ways to cope with feeling anxious or low, rather than just dealing with it on my own. I think 
the way I view myself has also changed. I feel more confident than before.’

‘These sessions have helped me realise that things beyond my control are not my fault. Also not to feel guilty 
about the outcome of events. My therapist made me feel relaxed and is very easy to talk to.’

Feedback from Teacher
‘I wanted to feedback that the service I am getting from Service Six at the moment is excellent I am quick to 
complain so thought I ought to let you know when things are working well’

‘I say that I am extremely grateful to yourselves and especially the counsellor for the way you've helped 
X throughout this past school year. We have noticed a massive improvement in him and his anger has 
significantly dropped, although there are still issues, the way his counsellor has worked with him has been 
brilliant. We have thanked his counsellor personally but would love that she was also thanked 'through' her 
work! Thank you’

Feedback from Parents / Carers

'My son had a series of sessions with his counsellor which ended about two weeks ago.  After every meeting 
with her my son had so much to say.  He speaks very highly of his counsellor and has become more confident 
in dealing with his trauma since this time. We feel that his counsellor was part of the family, and my son was 
always keen to update her with his latest news when he saw her. My son is not really an avid reader, but he 
has asked me to get a few books that his counsellor has suggested to him.  So I would really like to thank her 
for her help and support with my son, it’s been invaluable.  On the occasions that I met her, she was a lovely 
lady. She is definitely an asset to your Team.

In addition to this I would like to thank the office 
staff at your Wellingborough Branch. On every 
occasion that I visited with my son, we were made 
feel so welcome and part of the family.  Staff always 
made sure that we were comfortable and catered 
for. It was a pleasure attending your Wellingborough 
Branch. I would be happy to offer some support to 
your Service if I can and should you require it.

I am so grateful for the help and support that the whole Team has given us, so in short – thank you very much.'
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CASE STU
DY

Ryan, 14

Ryan was referred to Service Six by his mother who reported her concerns 
that he was not attending school on a regular basis and seemed to be mixing 
with a group of older boys none of whom had jobs. Ryan’s father had little 
contact with his son and had frequently let him down in the past. He was often 
in trouble at school and was falling behind with his work. Ryan had no siblings and 
one maternal grandmother. 

The triage team was divided as to what would be the best intervention to offer; 
with his poor school attendance rate it was very likely that he might not engage. With 
limited funding we are always mindful of the best use of available resources. Ryan had 
added a comment to his referral, saying that he needed to talk to someone and that 
he wanted to make changes in his life. Ryan’s case was allocated to one of our male counsellors, 
reasoning that a good male role model might enable positive change. His sessions were scheduled at 
his GP surgery after school hours.

Ryan arrived late and seemed ill at ease and fidgety during his first session. He found it difficult to 
say what he wanted to achieve through counselling and seemed distrustful of the counsellor. The 
counsellor felt that Ryan had no experience of a caring older male, he also wondered if Ryan was 
dyslexic as he appeared to get confused with the assessment form and spoke of being made to feel 
stupid at school as part of the problem. His answer to this had been to play truant. With his mother 
leaving for work early in the mornings it was easy not to bother to go in. The counsellor was very 
careful to take things slowly and not to ask or expect too much. In an effort to be transparent Ryan 
was told that his mother was worried about his friends and wondered if he was smoking cannabis. 

Ryan denied this strongly but added that his friends understood how he was feeling. By the end of 
the first session only parts of the initial assessment had been completed. Ryan was asked if he could 
think about his goals for the work together as part of his homework. The therapist also explained 
about our limits regarding attending/or cancelling sessions as with his record it seemed important to 
be really clear. Reporting back later to the counselling manager, the counsellor spoke of having a real 
sense that Ryan appeared lost and vulnerable. However, he wasn’t sure that Ryan would come back 
the following week.

Ryan was early for the following week’s session but had failed to think about the goals he wanted 
to achieve through the counselling. The therapist wondered if he was scared to think about positive 
goals or give commitment when he felt so let down by many of the adults in his life. Conversation 
was difficult with Ryan’s attention straying to the medical instruments inside the GP’s room. The 
counsellor decided to use a lifeline drawing to encourage Ryan to feel more at ease by not having to 
maintain eye contact. The purpose of drawing a lifeline is for the client to mark significant memories 
in chronological order. This can be really helpful for the counsellor and client to grasp what has gone 
on in the client’s life. Ryan’s lifeline showed numerous house moves and many memories of his father 
letting him down. He became visibly distressed and said that he wanted to leave the session.

Ryan failed to turn up to his next session; the counsellor spoke briefly to his mother asking if she 
could find out if he wished to continue. His mother gave the feedback that he had seemed angry 
after the previous week and hadn’t wanted to talk about what had been discussed. At the fourth 
session the counsellor began to explore what had happened and whether or not Ryan felt ready to 
talk about whatever he had alluded to on the referral form. Very slowly he gave a picture of getting 
behind with his school work as he didn’t always understand and of being angry with his father for 
leaving him behind. Progress was slow with the counsellor recognizing that if Ryan felt challenged he 
would leave. 

Therapeutic Services
All case studies use pseudonyms
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Andrew, 43
Andrew was referred into Service Six as part of our East Northamptonshire Community Support 
Grant, providing support interventions for adults and young people who reside in East
Northamptonshire. Due to his presenting issues of mild anxiety and low mood it was decided that he 
would be offered our IAPT Informed intervention that offers a CBT type approach. Service Six has run 
a pilot scheme for the past two years with excellent results.  

Andrew was socially anxious and had persistent thoughts that he might make a fool of himself in 
company. He displayed some obsessive tendencies around checking windows and locks. Whilst 
maintaining a job he had very little social life and lived at home with his elderly mother.

Andrew met with our counsellor for seven sessions, during which he was asked to identify behaviours 
and thoughts that perpetuated negative cycles and to scale his anxiety whilst challenged to manage 
small changes. Very gradually he identified the unhelpful thoughts that prevented him from being 
more spontaneous/or making changes and with much encouragement began to make small changes 
to his routine. He began to accept that change might be uncomfortable but was possible. The therapist 
explored his sense of being unsafe (locking doors etc.) and helped him to see that his anxiety was 
out of proportion to the likelihood of any type of violation (whilst hearing and understanding the 
roots of his worries). Andrew’s goal had been to join a local gardening group and to go to watch his 
nephew playing football. Both were achieved and fresh goals were set to be worked on once therapy 
had ended. The therapist gave Andrew information about books and charts that would help him to 
monitor his progress.

At the end of therapy Andrew’s PHQ9 levels had reduced from 14 to 6 and his GAD7 from 12 to 5.  He 
spoke of having a sense of purpose and new confidence that he could continue to make improvements.

For further measurement score information please refer to guidance on pages 11 and 12

CASE STU
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Andrew was socially anxious and had persistent thoughts that he might make a fool of himself in 
company. He displayed some obsessive tendencies around checking windows and locks. Whilst 
maintaining a job he had very little social life and lived at home with his elderly mother.

Andrew met with our counsellor for seven sessions, during which he was asked to identify behaviours 
and thoughts that perpetuated negative cycles and to scale his anxiety whilst challenged to manage 
small changes. Very gradually he identified the unhelpful thoughts that prevented him from being 
more spontaneous/or making changes and with much encouragement began to make small changes 
to his routine. He began to accept that change might be uncomfortable but was possible. The therapist 
explored his sense of being unsafe (locking doors etc.) and helped him to see that his anxiety was 
out of proportion to the likelihood of any type of violation (whilst hearing and understanding the 
roots of his worries). Andrew’s goal had been to join a local gardening group and to go to watch his 
nephew playing football. Both were achieved and fresh goals were set to be worked on once therapy 
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At the end of therapy Andrew’s PHQ9 levels had reduced from 14 to 6 and his GAD7 from 12 to 5.  He 
spoke of having a sense of purpose and new confidence that he could continue to make improvements.
For further measurement score information please refer to guidance on pages 10 and 11

Ryan continued..
Ryan spoke of his anger which was respected and acknowledged by the counsellor 
and they began to make plans for asking for more help from his school. Ryan asked 
if his mother might attend one of their sessions so that he could tell her about the 
situation at school. This was arranged with the result that his mother went into school 
and asked for additional support which was put in place. 

At the end of their sessions together some small but significant changes had been 
made. School had recognised that Ryan was struggling and had arranged for him 
to have a test to ascertain whether or not he was dyslexic and his mother was 
making time to take him to play with a local basketball team. Whereas the counsellor 
was unable to change Ryan’s lack of a father he had been given the chance to voice 
his anger and upset and was beginning to come to terms with the situation. Ryan had 
cut down on his time with the group of friends that his mother felt was a bad influence.

His PHQ9 score had improved from 15 to 9 and his GAD7 score from 16 to 13.  Not significant changes 
but with a more supportive structure in place the counsellor felt that further improvement would 
occur. Ryan was also given information about other Service Six’ activities and encouraged to think 
about joining one of the Youth groups.
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CASE STU
DY

Megan, 16
Megan was referred into our service through the RMC (Referral Management 
Centre) which handles all referrals made for Children and Young People’s 
Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health Services. Megan was 16 and had 
made a suicide attempt through a recent overdose of pain  killers. She had been 
taken into hospital and seen by the CAMHS crisis team before being discharged 
and referred to our service. Her case was reviewed by the Service Six triage team 
and it was agreed that she would be offered initially 12 sessions of therapy with 
a chance to extend if she engaged and was benefiting from our intervention. Her 
GP was very supportive and had requested fortnightly meetings with Megan and her 
mother in order to monitor her wellbeing.

Megan presented in her first counselling session as quiet and polite. Our counsellor noted that she 
appeared withdrawn and awkward when they first met and was reluctant to talk about the reason 
for her hospitalization and the events leading up to her overdose. The counsellor was careful to 
explain the limits of confidentiality by clarifying what the client could discuss that would stay in the 
room between them and what would have to be passed on as a safeguarding concern. When Megan 
heard this, she appeared more relaxed and began to speak of the breakdown of a relationship with 
a girl in her school and how she hadn’t known how to tell her mother that she was homosexual. The 
counsellor and Megan agreed to focus on her thoughts and feelings around the breakdown of her 
relationship, her sense of identity and to find strategies that would keep her safe.

As the weeks progressed Megan and the counsellor’s relationship became stronger as she realized 
that their sessions gave her the chance to speak about the confusion she had felt and how isolated 
she had become. Megan also spoke about the death of her father five years earlier and her sense 
that she couldn’t speak of her grief because her mother was already so fragile. She had held back 
and learned to keep her thoughts and emotions inside. Megan and the counsellor discussed ways 
in which she might be able to speak about more difficult subjects with her mother or other trusted 
friends.

Megan attended all twelve sessions during which she explored and acknowledged her sexuality and 
of her sense that she had the confidence to tell her mother. She also spoke of the impact of the loss 
of her father and began to speak of him with her mother. This led to Megan talking about other 
deeply personal thoughts and feelings. At the end of therapy Megan told her counsellor that she 
was stronger in herself and more confident that she had the coping strategies to deal with anything 
that troubled her. The counsellor gave her some further helpline numbers as part of the agreed exit 
strategy. Megan’s GP saw her regularly for some time and gave the feedback that he found both 
Megan and her mother more relaxed with one another.  

Megan’s PHQ9 (low mood) score reduced from the severe (25) to the low end of the moderate scale 
(10) and her GAD7 (anxiety) score reduced from severe (19) to mild (7).

For further measurement score information please refer to guidance on pages 10 and 11

Therapeutic Services
All case studies use pseudonyms
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CASE STU
DY

Katie, 9
Katie was referred into Service Six via our PSAP scheme which offers support and 
counselling to children and young people who have been sexually abused. Referrals 
are triaged by Serenity in Northampton before being referred to Service Six. 
During this time Serenity continues to offer support and information to the 
family. Many clients are part of an on-going police investigation or are due to give 
evidence in court. This necessitates that our counsellors work within recognised 
guidelines for Pre-Trial Therapy.

In Katie’s case her referral stated that her stepfather had sexually abused her. She 
had told her mother who acted swiftly with the result that forensic evidence had 
been taken and the perpetrator bailed and ordered not to approach Katie or her 
mother. To complicate matters, Katie had a younger half-brother who didn’t understand 
why his father was no longer at home. Social Services were involved in order to arrange supervised 
contact but this was not yet in place. Katie’s mother was struggling with the shock of the abuse and 
the impact of managing her children and her financial situation. She told our counsellor that she felt 
betrayed and ashamed.

When Service Six works with younger children, we use an evaluation form that asks not only the 
child but also a parent and where possible a teacher to give feedback as to that child’s strengths and 
difficulties. Katie’s mother reported Katie has having trouble sleeping alone and frequent bouts of 
anger or tears. Her teacher noted that she had become withdrawn and appeared to have lost her 
confidence. 

Due to her age, Katie was offered therapeutic play as the most suitable intervention. Her sessions 
explored her sense of chaos and fear with a frequent theme of being attacked and needing to build 
defences to protect herself and those she loved. She spoke of her stepfather as bad and naughty 
whilst saying that she missed him and that her brother and Mummy were unhappy.  She had a sense 
that this was her fault although her mother had gone to lots of trouble to explain that it wasn’t. As 
the situation began to settle Katie’s play and conversations within the sessions changed to themes of 
rebuilding and feeling stronger. Her sleep patterns had improved and once again she was able to join 
in the play of her classmates and friends.

In the review meeting with her mother the therapist 
was pleased to note that not only was Katie feeling 
better but that her mother had joined a support 
group and family members had rallied round to 
offer help. The therapist added that those that 
suffer from abuse often need to re-visit therapy at 
different stages of development. 

For further measurement score information please 
refer to guidance on pages 10 and 11
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MEETING OUR COMMUNITIES’ GREATEST NEEDS

Support Plus

Within the year we provided 714 sessions of Support Plus to 119 beneficiaries.
The Support Plus service particularly suits individuals or families who are; chaotic; unable or unwilling to 
engage in therapy; or whose needs do not meet our threshold for a therapy pathway. The service matches 
young people, adults and families with a Support Plus Practitioner or a Trainee  Counsellor (studying for 
a minimum of an Accredited Therapeutic Diploma in a credible College or University) who use ‘listening  
and counselling skills’ to provide enhanced emotional and practical support. The service is delivered on 
the same basis as Brief Solution Focused Therapy with a directive approach. The service does not have the 
rigid boundaries required for Therapy so sessions can be more flexible in terms of arrangements, length and 
content whilst still achieving significant outcomes within a small number of solution-focused sessions. As 
a result, Support Plus is very cost effective service for individuals with low level mental health and support 
needs.

At the start of the Support Plus programme the practitioner and client identify three desired key outcomes. 
Progress towards those outcomes are tracked within regular reviews throughout the Support Plus programme. 
The practitioner also uses national credible measurement tools such as the PHQ9 to measure low mood 
and the GAD7 to measure anxiety. Further information about these tools and our use of them within the 
case studies is available on page 10-11. The scores are taken at the start and at the end of the Support   
Plus programme. Measuring the client’s journey in this way demonstrates improvements and identifies any 
additional support or referral needs.
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Julia, 16
Outcome: Reduced Anger & Anxiety
Julia’s presenting issues at referral stage were anger management and anxiety. She engaged in 6 
Support Plus sessions, setting herself small manageable goals. Julia identified that she was struggling 
with anxiety which made her angry. 

During her sessions Julia explored the triggers for feeling anxious, which was relating to her not wanting 
people to know that she was struggling at school. She felt it was easier to cover this up by getting 
angry. Looking at her triggers enabled Julia to explore alternative positive coping strategies. She also 
explored the warning signs of her getting angry and using her new learnt strategies, which she practiced 
between her sessions, including taking deep breaths whilst assessing the situation. Julia also stated 
that it helped her to walk away from the situation to give her time to calm down and then approach 
the situation again when she was feeling calmer. She also identified a 
teacher within school who she felt she could go and talk to if she was 
starting to feel anxious, explaining to them how she was feeling to 
enable her to get some time-out.

Julia was also able to apply her new learnt techniques within her 
home life which helped her to feel happier and find home a positive 
place to be.

Support Plus Services
All case studies use pseudonyms

Jimmy, 13
Outcome: Reduced Anger
Jimmy’s presenting issues were anger management and feeling better about 
himself. Jimmy engaged in six sessions of Support Plus where he was supported 
to work on desired key outcomes. At the start of the intervention Jimmy completed 
the My Goal and scored 1 out of 10 in relation to being able to control his anger.

During the Support Plus programme Jimmy explored his current triggers for his anger 
outbursts and gained an understanding and awareness for those triggers he identified. 
Jimmy has siblings who have ADHD and finds it very difficult to be around them as 
he does not understand their condition ADHD. With the support of his Support Plus Practitioner 
Jimmy felt encouraged to research ADHD and how he could deal with situations in a different and 
more healthier way when involved with his siblings. Jimmy 
also explored coping strategies for his anger and practiced 
these between his sessions in his everyday life. 

At the end of his Support Plus programme Jimmy re-visited 
his My Goal scores and scored himself 9 out of 10.

For further measurement score information please refer to 
guidance on pages 10 and 11

CASE STU
DY
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Sarah, 14
Outcome: Reduced Self-harm & Anxiety
Outcome: Increased Confidence and Wellbeing

Sarah’s presenting issues were self-harming behaviour and anxiety.
In her first session Sarah identified three key outcomes she wanted to achieve at 
the end of her support programme. This included the reduction of self-harming, 
better management of her anxiety and building up her self-confidence.

Sarah engaged in 6 Support Plus sessions. She was able to discuss the reason for 
her wanting to hurt herself and explored alternative methods; including drawing on 
her arm with a red pen instead of cutting it and writing her feelings into the Spectrum 
journal. She was also enabled to look at ways to manage her anxiety by using breathing 
exercises and mindfulness. Arts and crafts were used as a tool reflecting on different feelings, such 
as mood pillow with one side showing things that make her happy and the other side things that 
made her mad. Sarah identified as the biggest barrier to overcome her anxiety her self-perception, 
such as body image and lack of self-confidence. During her sessions Sarah used magazines to create 
the ‘perfect body’, realizing similar traits on herself.

At the end of the programme Sarah grew in confidence 
and the desire to self-harm got less and less. Sarah has not 
shown any self-harming behaviour for the last 2 months. 
Sarah’s goal score for reducing her self-harming behaviour 
increased from 2 to 10. Her goal score for managing her 
anxiety increased from 2 to 9 and building her confidence 
increased from 1 to 9.

Sarah’s PHQ9 scores decreased from 19 to 4 and her GAD9 score decreased from 
14 to 3. When Sarah measured her Wellbeing her scores increased from 6 to 9.

Beth, 12
Outcome: Reduced Anxiety & Increased Wellbeing

Beth was referred to Service Six to get support in dealing with her worries, anxiety and looking at 
the transition to Secondary school.

At the start of her intervention programme Beth set herself 3 goals she wanted to achieve; One 
being less worried re attending Secondary school and the other to be less sad when thinking about 
the past. She also wanted to improve her overall Wellbeing.

Beth engaged in 6 Support Plus sessions, focusing on the transition to Secondary school and 
associated worries. Beth identified individual worries and explored each one, looking at ways of 
dealing with each worry in a different way. Beth explored clubs and activities that will be on offer 
in her new school so that she could make new friendship groups and build on her social skills. 
Furthermore she focused on the events she experienced in the past, leaving her with sad feelings.

Beth used art work to address and work through her issues, including exploring and remembering 
positive past events. She was encouraged to use her love for drawing and writing to focus on these, 
especially when feeling down. Beth also identified existing support networks which can help her 
when feeling a down.

CASE STU
DY

For further measurement score information please refer to guidance on pages 10 and 11
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Rory, 14
Outcome: Reduced Anger & Anxiety

Rory was referred to Service Six as he struggled to manage his anxiety which 
often led to him getting very angry. As a result of this Rory set at the beginning 
of his intervention programme 2  desired goals he wanted to achieve; to be able 
to control my anxiety; to be able to control my anger.

Rory engaged in 5 Support Plus sessions, exploring his triggers for anger and 
anxiety and how to recognize the warning signs using a tool called Gingerbread Man. 
Rory and his Practitioner explored  different coping strategies he could use when 
recognizing his identified warning signs and feels angry or anxious. Rory was enabled 
to acknowledge his existing support network using a tool called the Support Hand, identifying who 
the key people in his life are that he could use for support.

Rory found it very hard to control his anger but was able to identify through exploring his triggers 
that he responded with anger when he was feeling anxious as he felt that he could not show people 
he was anxious without looking weak. Through the sessions Rory was able to recognize that it was 
OK to feel anxious and to be open about it and in particular started talking to his mum more openly 
about his emotions.

Rory did not require the full amount of sessions for his intervention programme and improved on 
all his outcome measures; PHQ9 reduced from 4 to 2; GAD7 reduced from 12 to 1; Wellbeing ladder 
increased from 7 to 9; My Goal 1 – Controlling Anxiety increased from 5 to 9.5 and My Goal 2 – 
Control Anger increased from 4 to 8.5.

CASE STU
DY

For further measurement score information please refer to guidance on pages 10 and 11
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MEETING OUR COMMUNITIES’ GREATEST NEEDS

Service Six's Needs Analysis & Needs Led Delivery Model

Within all our services we value children’s and young people’s integral participation and decision making to 
enable us to shape and develop the services we offer to them and to directly respond to identified needs, 
particularly for disadvantaged and vulnerable children and young people. We received 79 referrals for our 
Needs Led service and provided 186 sessions in 2016-17.

In April 2016 we commenced a significant Needs Led consultation across Northamptonshire with children 
and young people to identify the top 3 issues affecting their lives, key gaps in services and to identify who 
were the most appropriate individuals to target to respond to their needs effectively. 

Between April 2016 and March 2017 527 young people aged 5 to 18 years actively participated in significant 
Co-production with many more engaged at a lower level. Feedback and suggestions received influenced the 
way we developed and delivered services and we will continue to value and implement Co-production within 
all aspects of our work during 2017-18 across Northamptonshire, Leicestershire and Buckinghamshire. 

We asked children and young people some key questions to help us build on our Needs Led approach and 
the collated feedback demonstrates the benefits of genuine Co-production, the Needs Led model of working 
and proposed actions.

In terms of service needs young people told us that they want free accessible leisure activities, someone to 
talk to who will listen to them and to help them to feel happier. Service Six is very proud to say that we are 
already listening to the most vulnerable and disadvantaged children and young people throughout all our 
services. Also, we are providing free activities such as youth clubs throughout the year and additional positive 
activities, such as holiday clubs and sports sessions during half-term based on needs and interest.

Children and young people have told us they are greatly affected by their own self-image and worry about 
their education. They lack confidence, and felt unhappy, stressed and lonely.

Although we know from our previous data that most abuse of children and young people is happening within 
the family setting, it was a surprise for us that disadvantaged children and young people still go to their 
parents and carers first if they feel sad, unhappy or need help. Based on their feedback, peers and siblings 
provide a critical support network.

Data also highlights the critical role of teachers as the first adult point of contact for vulnerable children and 
young people. This lays a huge responsibility on teachers to respond and to respond well. Therefore we need 
to be supporting teachers to achieve this role in our community and society.    

In summary we need to continue to listen and support, provide free activities, including health guidance 
as well as help children and young people with school work and provide anger management interventions. 
Service Six has been extremely successful with the introduction of our Needs Led model throughout all our 
work. We work with and for disadvantaged young people as opposed to ‘doing to them’ through a sincere 
and open communication and co-production strategy. Young people tell us what they need, how they need it 
and what approaches will work well.  As already mentioned; we will listen, hear and act upon their identified 
needs and interests. 
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NEEDS LED
MODEL

Feedback from young people who received support through our Needs Led Interventions

‘It helped me to understand my worries and to deal with them better. It was also nice to have someone to talk 
to’

‘I have felt happier and have had a much more positive outlook on life. I still worry and feel unhappy sometimes, 
but not as much.’

‘The service was structured around what I wanted and everything we did or spoke about was for my own 
good’

‘When receiving the support, I felt comfortable to be honest and talk about my feelings without being judged 
in anyway’

‘I would say that this service has helped me to help myself and could do the same for them. The support is 
given in a friendly way and you feel you can be 100% honest’

‘I think the support has had a positive impact because it has given me many ways to help myself. It is up to me 
now to remember the strategies and use them to continue positively impacting my life.’
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MEETING OUR COMMUNITIES’ GREATEST NEEDS

‘Opal’ Self-Harm Project

The Opal Project is a pioneering project which is designed to offer help and support 
to young self-harmers and is an award winning project which received the prestigious 
Queen’s Award for Voluntary Service, the highest award given to volunteer groups 
across the UK for outstanding work done in their local communities. Alongside this 
the Opal Project also received The Prince Lawrence Award and the Young Achievers 
Winner Pride in Northamptonshire.

The Opal Project offers a vital lifeline to young people who often feel isolated and alone and has gone from 
strength to strength with the development of a website and its self-help resources. Our Opal Project has a 
global reach with children and young people across the world, downloading our self-help resources such as 
the Spectrum Journal and the Information Pack.

In 2015 we consulted with 760 young people across Northamptonshire regarding their thoughts on self-
harming. The results of the consultation were eye-opening and highlighted that Self-harm is a way for young 
people to express their distress. It is often a way of communicating what someone feels they cannot express 
in words, or even in thoughts. Young people find themselves more likely to self-harm after an overwhelming 
or distressing experience, or a series of experiences. It is possible that they never learned how to identify 
or express difficult feelings in a healthy way and it can be scary to talk about the very thing they have kept 
hidden.

Based on the result of our consultation, alongside the website and self-help resources, we integrated the 
Opal project into our Needs Led delivery model, wanting to create a road to recovery for young people who 
are experiencing self-harm by offering a safe, supportive, non-judgemental and informative space, helping 
them to understand why they self-harm and explore alternative coping strategies which will enable the young 
person to self-manage in healthier ways towards their recovery. 

Since April 2016 we noted 148 referrals presenting self-harm as 
referral symptoms requiring more intensive support. The support 
was delivered in the form of 72 individual sessions and through our 
Young People’s Wellbeing support group which is tailored around the 
needs of the young people in a friendly and informal atmosphere. 
Young self-harmers were given time to meet other young people 
who have also had self-harm experience and therefore going through 
similar experiences and feelings, developing a peer support network 
to support each other.

We delivered measurable outcomes which demonstrate the 
effectiveness of our Opal Project in improving the lives of young 
self-harmers, including; Improved Wellbeing; Implementing Healthy 
Coping Strategies; Reduce self-harming behaviour and focus on 
positive activities in their life.

Within the year the Opal project has also included; a bespoke website 
www.theopalproject.com with a range   of free downloadable resources; the Spectrum Journal, an Information 
Pack; online and eSupport service. In 2016-2017 The Opal website received 99,483 visits; 1,145 Spectrum 
Journals and 2,096 Information Packs were downloaded from the website.
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NCC Supporting Services Contracts - Challenging Youth Behaviour

Northamptonshire County Council (NCC) announced the early 
closure of all the contracts in March 2016 due to their policy 
changes. Therefore Service Six were instructed that all referrals 
and allocations into services ceased in early January 2016. 
Service Six was able to continue working with 33 young people 
during April 2016 and June 2016 who already were receiving bespoke intervention programmes prior to 
NCC’s announcement, achieving 100% user satisfaction.

However, despite the contract closure notice we successfully provided a 
range of interventions for children and young people aged 5+ years to 
prevent and reduce anti-social and challenging youth behaviour within 
the areas of Corby, East Northamptonshire, Daventry, Northampton, 
South Northamptonshire and Wellingborough. The main outcomes 
required with children and young people were a reduction in anti-social and/
or challenging behaviour, an increase in educational attendance and an increase in happiness and 
wellbeing.

Our bespoke 1-2-1 mentoring and coaching support packages were for 
children and young people who were not attending education, displaying 
low self-esteem and a lack of confidence and requiring guidance around 
their positive social circles. Youth Anti-Social Behaviour Prevention 
Practitioners were allocated a case load of children and young people, 
to meet with them on a weekly basis, developing in partnership with 

the child or young person an action plan of support focusing on their individual 
need. Most importantly, they enabled children and young people to make changes for the better 

and to achieve their desired goals and aspirations.

Within our Targeted Activity Programmes we have supported children and young people who have been able 
to address their issues through working in a group and meeting other young people with similar difficulties. 
Specific group work themes included anger management, life skills, protective and risk taking behaviours, 
staying safe and healthy relationships or sport based activities amongst many other tailor made topics.

We also offered our Play Plus Programmes for children aged 5 to 9 years 
which provided a range of positive activities of fun, constructive and 
educational play opportunities for children particularly those who are 
disadvantaged. Children achieved outcomes of improved behaviour, 
improved educational attendance and reported improved wellbeing 
within their physical health, mental health and happiness.

One of the Targeted Activity Programmes delivered was the successful VYBZ Youth Club in Wellingborough 
which provided 26 positive activities sessions between April 2016 and June 2016 for over 60 children and 
young people, including sports, life skills, first aid, gaming, community volunteering and informal education. 
This covered topics such as anger management, healthy relationships, protective behaviour, healthy eating, 
alcohol and drug awareness, bullying, safe and unsafe secrets, personal hygiene amongst other issues 
affecting children and young people’s lives. Due to its success we decided in July 2016 to fully integrate VYBZ 
Youth Club into the Service Six Needs Led service delivery. 



28

MEETING OUR COMMUNITIES’ GREATEST NEEDS

Reducing Anti-Social Behaviour in Hot Spot Areas

Service Six has established a significant reputation for achieving 
marked reduction in Ant-Social Behaviour in targeted hotspot 
areas. The first pilot project we delivered was in 2008 where   we 
achieved a 30% reduction in Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) (Northamptonshire Police Crime Statistics 2008) in a 
six month period in the top three disadvantaged and targeted areas in Wellingborough district; Hemmingwell, 
Queensway and Kingsway. The project directly contributed to Wellingborough winning the county’s ‘Place 
Survey’ Award for the year and caught the attention of the Home Office.

Since then our detached and positive activity services, known as ‘StreetWise’ have gone from strength to 
strength and enabled us to continue evidencing the positive impact of our presence in reaching out to and 
engaging with the most hard to reach young people on the streets and in the communities of the county. Our 
work has been directed through a multi-agency approach within the Anti-Social Behaviour Action Groups 
(ASBAG) in partnership with Northamptonshire Police, Northamptonshire’s Community Safety Partnership’s, 
District, Town and Parish Councils and local and national housing providers to ensure a strategic, consistent 
and targeted approach to identified local priority areas based on hard-data such as reported incidents of youth 
anti-social behaviour and low level youth crime. Through our positive role modelling, relationships, creativity 
and activities our team enabled young people to improve their attitudes, behaviours and contributions to 
their families and communities.

In partnership with Deanshanger Parish Council and South Northamptonshire Community Safety Partnership 
we delivered our StreetWise service providing detached and positive activities in the Deanshanger area, 
reaching over 350 young people in a targeted community and local school who benefited from our street 
based services and positive activities programmes and were able to contribute towards their community 
development through co-production activities, providing feedback on issues affecting them within their 
community.

Earlier in the year Orbit Housing identified through their local housing 
and police officers that there is a need for our StreetWise project as ASB 
has escalated in 4 key areas across Northamptonshire. Although the 
ASB across these areas was different, it was all being caused by young 
people and therefore Orbit Housing commissioned our StreetWise 
approach to address these issues through its delivery. Since March 2017 we are delivering Streetwise in 
Damselfly Road and surrounding areas in Northampton and the Crowhill Estate in Irthlingborough with 
Ennerdale Estate in Corby and Spring Rise in Kettering to follow in 2017-18. 
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Chapter House; Youth & Community Project

In September 2015 in partnership with National Housing provider, Places for 
People, we launched a new community centre, ‘Chapter House,’ in Milton
Keynes, Buckinghamshire. The centre offers a range of free activities and services to the local residents  
and the surrounding area. The aims of the project were to support families, reduce anti-social behaviour, 
increase access to information, resources and services and to improve wellbeing, health and happiness. The 
team also focused on creating an accessible and safe space for residents to enhance community spirit, share 
transferable skills and have fun.

Between April 2016 and November 2016 the Chapter House Community Project continued to provide 
successfully a range of activities and support services, serving a very diverse client cohort of different ages 
with multi-cultural backgrounds. This included a variety of services such as Chapter Kidz and Chillax Youth 
Club, Coffee Mornings, Homework and Holiday Clubs.

The team consisted of one full-time Community Centre and Project Manager and two part-time Youth and 
Community Practitioners. Since the start of the year the team has engaged with over 180 children, young 
people and adults, providing support, guidance and positive activities. We developed positive working 
relationships with over 46 local organisations such as MK Food bank, MK Council Regeneration and Youth 
Services Departments, Woughton Community Council, Moorlands Children’s Centre, Compass, Connect MK, 
The Islamic Centre, Coffee Tots Pre-School, New Chapter Primary School, Coffee Hall Residents Association 
and Brook amongst many others.

During July and August we delivered an extremely successful 
summer project ‘Trail Blazers’ which was funded by the MK 
Community Foundation. We provided free activities to 64 children 
and young people in Coffee Hall and surrounding areas, supporting 
them to learn and develop transferable skills and engage in physical 
activities. Activities also included community litter picks, cooking, 
team building and communication skills, self-esteem building and 
arts and crafts and other activities. One of the highlights of the 
project was the day trip to Hunstanton. We were able to take 30 
children and young people to Hunstanton which was for the majority 
of young people the first time they had visited a British seaside resort. The trip was thoroughly enjoyed by all, 
the weather was kind which allowed us to have a morning of fun on the beach, paddling, building sandcastles 
and playing games, before enjoying a chip shop lunch.

In August 2016 we were awarded with a three year Big Lottery 
Fund for our Youth Starz Project to continue the success of the 
Chapter House and to respond directly to the community’s 
identified needs. 

Feedback from Community Centre users 

‘I love the clubs and the trips! Going to the seaside was amazing I had never been before’

‘I have never missed a session! It would make me sad if the youth club was to stop. I feel safe and have fun.’

‘I love doing the arts and crafts. I think it’s good that we get to have food.’
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Chapter House Community Project
All case studies use pseudonyms

Heather, 8
Outcome: Enable Access, Increased Confidence & Self-Esteem
Heather is a young Afro Caribbean resident of Coffee Hall in Milton Keynes. She 
first started attending Chapter Kidz Youth Club in October 2015 and has since not 
missed one of the weekly sessions. Alongside this she also attended our holiday 
and homework support clubs.

When Heather first started to attend sessions she had extremely low confidence and 
self-esteem. She would not hold conversations with Practitioners or make eye contact. 
Heather would talk in a whisper to her peers and would engage to a minimum. 
Since her engagement with Service Six structured activities she started to engage more and more 
with her peers and communicated through them with the Practitioners using gestures as her way of 
interacting with the team. 

The team continuously reassured Heather that Chapter House is a safe, structured and supportive 
environment and with patience, consistency, understanding and encouragement Heather started to 
have conversations with staff that she initiated and maintained eye contact. She is fully participating 
in activities in a very relaxed manor laughing, having fun and gaining new skills.

Annie, 12
Outcome: Enable Access, Increased Confidence & Self-Esteem
Annie is a young resident of Coffee Hall in Milton Keynes. She first started accessing the services in 
October 2015.

When Annie initially started to engage in Service Six’ activities she demonstrated an extreme lack of 
social skills, had very low confidence and self-esteem. She would ‘cling’ on to adult members of staff 
and required constant reassurance.

Both Annie and her older brother were observed to be very isolated from their peers, choosing to 
complete activities with each other and members of staff rather than integrating themselves with the 
group.

Annie would choose to sit away from her peers during sessions, avoiding eye contact and displaying 
closed body language which at times could be described as a hunch. She would talk freely and openly 
to Practitioners but visibly close down if another young person approached.

Through Annie attending the sessions on a regular basis and receiving support, consistency and 
encouragement she slowly started to interact with her peers. To date the team has witnessed 
dramatic changes in Annie. She will now attend sessions alone without relying on her brother for 
support. During activities she will voice her opinions openly. She fully joins in activities with her peers 
independently. She now holds conversations with other young people during sessions and is able to 
maintain eye contact. Her body language has relaxed and she appears a very happy, smiley member 
of the group. When new people join she is always one of the first to interact.

Annie has stated “This place has changed me, thank-you”

CASE STU
DY
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MEETING OUR COMMUNITIES’ GREATEST NEEDS

Big Lottery Fund Youth Starz Project - Milton Keynes, Buckinghamshire

In November 2016 we launched our three year Big Lottery funded ‘Youth Starz Project’. 
The project is targeted at the two most deprived areas of Milton Keynes, Milton Keynes 
Central and Woughton Borough. The key aims of the project are to reduce anti-social 
behaviour, increase young people’s access to healthy positive activities and transferable 
life skills, to improve their wellbeing and happiness, to increase young people’s 
achievements and aspirations and to enable them to support other young people and 
intergenerational groups within their communities.

The project budget include one full-time Youth Starz Project Manager 
and two part-time Youth Starz Project Workers, who have engaged 
with over 150 young people in targeted areas since the project started 
in November 2016. The project delivery included educational themed 
workshops and group work programmes (self-esteem, budgeting, anger 
management and child sexual exploitation), information events, 1-2-1 
support, detached youth work sessions and community based events. 
The team maintained and built positive relationships with young people and promoted youth led activities 
based on co-production. Activities have included cooking, badminton, football, team building games amongst 
many others.  

Over the coming months we will be looking to launch a football academy, introduce dance sessions and plan 
a community celebration event. 

The project is receiving positive feedback from both service users and professionals and we look forward 
working with all over the next two years.

Feedback received from Oakgrove School:

‘Service Six have now delivered two courses for us here at Oakgrove School. The first was on Exam Stress and 
the second was on Self Esteem. The feedback from our young people has been excellent. They have enjoyed 
the sessions immensely and I feel they have all benefited from the content.
From my perspective the organisation of the courses has been excellent, from the initial application form to 
the start of the courses themselves.  I have had no problems contacting the team and have found them to 
have a positive “can do” attitude. This has even extended to identifying two young people they felt would 
benefit from 1-1 sessions and squeezing them in to their schedules very quickly.
I would have no hesitation in recommending Service Six to my colleagues.’

Feedback from Service Users:

‘This has helped me so much, thank you’
‘You are amazing people’
‘I think these sessions are really good and more people should 
do them’
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Big Lottery Fund Youth Starz Project - Northamptonshire

In June 2016 we successfully completed the third year of our three year ‘Youth Starz 
Project’ in Northamptonshire funded by the Big Lottery. The project was targeted 
within the most deprived wards in Northamptonshire within Kettering, Wellingborough 
and Northampton. The key aims were to reduce anti-social behaviour, increase young 
people’s access to healthy positive activities and transferable life skills, to improve their 
wellbeing and happiness and to increase young people’s achievements and aspirations 
and to enable them to support other young people and intergenerational groups within 
their communities.

The project budget included one full-time Youth Starz Project Manager 
and two part-time Youth Starz Project Workers, who had engaged with 
over 448 young people in targeted areas since the project started in July 
2013. The project delivery included educational workshops (parenting, 
budgeting, anger management and child sexual exploitation), 
information events, 1-2-1 support, detached youth work and community 
based events. The team built positive relationships with young people and promoted youth led activities 
based on co-production.  Activities included dance, football, cooking courses, self-defence, boxing and drama 
amongst others. To celebrate the young people’s journey and positive achieved outcomes we invited all 
young people who have engaged with Youth Starz since its start in 2013 to our Youth Starz Young People’s 
Awards Ceremony which was very well attended and provided us all with some emotional and unforgettable 
moments.

Feedback from Service Users:

‘I got the opportunity to do and learn things I never 
thought I would!’

‘The project staff were incredibly supportive and listened 
to what I thought was important’
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Youth Starz
All case studies use pseudonyms

Sarah, 15
Outcome: Increased Confidence and Self-belief

Sarah was one of the first referrals received for the Youth Starz Project. Sarah 
had an extremely complex family with social care involvement. 

During her time accessing the project, Sarah received 1-2-1 support, accessed all 
of the project activities in her area, developed as a young leader, went on various 
trips including a residential and participated in various community projects receiving 
over 50 hours of national volunteering accreditation. Sarah was given the opportunity 
to be herself in the project and gain an understanding of her personal circumstances, 
developing her confidence and self-belief.  Sarah was extremely grateful for all of the support and 
opportunities she had been given and felt that it was only because of the project that she had grown 
into the well rounded individual she had become.

Chris, 17
Outcome: Reduced Self-harm & Increased Wellbeing and Education

Chris was referred to the project due to difficulties he was having in his education setting, alongside 
difficulties with self-harming behaviour and mental health issues. Chris received 1-2-1 support which 
helped him to manage his emotions more effectively. During his support Chris stopped attending 
his education setting. He continued receiving support from the project for over six months. Chris 
accessed CAMHS with the support of his key worker, learnt how to effectively manage his emotions 
and managed to stop self-harming.  

Shortly after receiving the support Chris contacted the project workers asking to assist him with 
gaining experience to work towards his goal of becoming a youth worker. Chris began attending the 
project activities as a young leader, supporting other young people with their own difficulties. Chris 
became a highly valued young leader with a lot to offer to his peers who were accessing the project.  
He attended a residential trip, assisting staff with leading the groups and accessing the activities.  
Chris eventually returned to education with the support of the project staff and gained a qualification 
in health and social care. Chris remained supportive of the project until its completion.

Sophie, 8
Outcome: Increased Wellbeing, Confidence and Self-esteem

Sophie began accessing the project during its second year; she was a very quiet and timid young girl.  
Sophie lacked confidence and had low self-esteem. Her two older siblings both also accessed the 
project activities. During one of the sessions, Sophie disclosed to the project workers that there were 
a lot of difficulties at home between her parents and that this had left her feeling very scared and at 
times suicidal. The team ensured that all of the necessary Safeguarding procedures were followed 
and the Early Help prevention team stepped in to help within the home. Sophie began receiving 
1-2-1 support through the project, alongside her and her siblings continuing to access all of the 
project activities.

During her 1-2-1 sessions Sophie engaged fully and learnt how to effectively manage her emotions, 
despite the continuing difficulties within the home. Sophie gradually built upon her confidence and 
self-esteem. She then went on to participate in the Youth Starz Talent Quest, showing a great deal of 
confidence and bravery. Sophie’s home life eventually improved, alongside her own wellbeing.

CASE STU
DY
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Play Plus

We have provided a wide range of positive activities for young children and their 
parents this year which enabled targeted families to spend quality time together, have 
fun, develop existing play and parenting skills and learn new skills, promote healthy 
communication, encourage affirmation for children’s good behaviour and achievements, 
enable access to play resources that families would not ordinarily be able to afford, and 
create opportunities for informal and social education.

Raunds Kidz Club & Chillax

To increase positive activities and opportunities for vulnerable children in Raunds 
and to reduce youth ASB, Raunds Town Council funded the provision of two weekly 
sessions; ‘Kidz Club’ for children aged 5 to 11 years and ‘Chillax’ for young people 
aged 12 to 19. 

We delivered 98 sessions to 123 children and young people, who engaged in a range 
of activities, including sports, recreation, education and personal development. 

Our activities were continuously developed and shaped by the participants accessing 
them whilst ensuring that positive outcomes specified by Raunds Town Council 
were achieved. This also included a consultation with children and young people living in Raunds to identify 
the need for a longer term youth provision in Raunds. 

The main focus during all sessions was to encourage peer support as a way of supporting each other 
and demonstrating respect to the differences within the groups, such as age, gender, learning difficulties 
and backgrounds. Through our provision we were able to provide children and young people with more 
opportunities to learn about peer support, by helping each other to discuss a problem or to approach a 
task and being a buddy for others. This approach ensured that 
all participants felt listened to, accepted and respected, formed 
lasting friendships and felt better about themselves which lead to 
an improved emotional wellbeing.

Victoria Centre Kidz Club & Chillax

In partnership with the Victoria Centre in Wellingborough we 
provided 48 ‘Chillax’ Youth club sessions for young people aged 10 
to 14 years and 15 to 19 years old. This project was funded by the 
Northamptonshire Community Foundation and The David Laing Foundation. Evidence based working with 21 
beneficiaries showed a significant positive impact on their lives and community. The project was committed 
to supporting the young people through combining basic education and mentoring with the diversity of play 
and games. The aim of the ‘Chillax’ youth club was to provide the young people with a safe space to play, 
to identify positive role models, to develop respect for their community, to develop friendships and most 
importantly to be themselves. The provision kept young people off the streets, gave them an opportunity to 
build self-esteem and self-belief, gain transferable values and skills and apply them to their lives outside of 
the group.

Victoria Centre
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Aspiring to a Better Future – Wellingborough Early Intervention

During 2016-2017 we continued to provided vital service to contribute towards the Wellingborough Stronger 
Safer Neighbourhood aims and objectives for Early Intervention and Prevention to empower communities to 
help themselves and to contribute towards taking the next generation out of crime.

Northamptonshire County Council and the Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner were working 
within a joint commissioning arrangement with Sir Christopher Hatton Academy, Weavers Academy and 
Wrenn Academy to commission a multi-agency collaboration as part of the Wellingborough Safer Stronger 
Neighbourhood Partnership to support vulnerable learners who are at risk of permanent exclusion or 
displaying challenging behaviour within school.

The ‘Aspiring to a Better Future’ programme was jointly delivered by 
Service Six, Rushmere Academy and Wellingborough Police. Guest 
speakers were invited for specific topics identified during the programme 
and based on the young people’s needs. 

Students were identified and selected by each school in partnership with Wellingborough Police and Service 
Six and the team worked intensively with this small group of students to support them in developing behaviour 
for learning and tackling issues in areas of their lives which may prompt negative behaviour. We addressed 
those issues impacting negatively on the student’s behaviour to enable them to consequently demonstrate 
‘behaviour for learning’. 

The aims of this pilot project was to enable students to make better decisions and choices (SMART decisions); 
to keep away from gangs; to be aware who to contact for advice or additional support; and to have enhanced/
improved school attendance/attainment.

Since December 2016 we completed 2 cohorts, 10 students in each cohort, with 80% success rate in achieving 
the desired outcomes.  We will continue with the Early Intervention project ‘Aspiring to a Better Future’ 
during 2017 – 18 in partnership with the three local schools and our colleagues from Wellingborough Police, 
supported by the Wellingborough Community Safety Partnership. 



36

MEETING OUR COMMUNITIES’ GREATEST NEEDS

East Northamptonshire Community Safety Partnership - Local Solution Fund

We successfully completed another year of the Local Solution 
Fund Project, funded by East Northamptonshire Community Safety 
Partnership, with the aim to improve the awareness and reporting of 
Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) and Online Safety amongst children, 
young people and their parents.

In partnership with 9 Primary and Secondary schools across East Northamptonshire we engaged with 925 
children and young people and 200 parents providing awareness initiatives around CSE and Staying Safe-
Online Safety. The aim of this initiative was to highlight the issues and risks surrounding CSE, especially online 
which is a substantial problem in Northamptonshire.

Our provision included:
• Raising awareness of online safety early - what safe social interaction should feel like and how they need 

to be turned into their feelings so they can gauge when they maybe be in a risky situation. 

• Getting children, young people and their parents to think about this risk, spot and speak out against 
abuse/harm and to adopt a zero tolerance to adults developing inappropriate relationships with children 
or children developing inappropriate relationships with other children.

• Informing them to whom they can report any concerns they may have and where to get further support 
if needed.

• Enhancing self-awareness, self-esteem and resilience in children and young people so they are less likely 
to become involved in harmful situations later on. 

• Offering support with online safety at home and children feeling safe in the community and whilst 
socializing with their peers.

• Promoting healthy interaction, positive relationships and independent self-care skills for children.
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Building Better Opportunities – New Leaf

The Building Better Opportunities (BBO) brings together funding from the Big Lottery Fund (BLF) and the 
European Social Fund (ESF) to help tackle the poverty and social exclusion faced by the most disadvantaged 
people in England.

In collaboration with Goodwill Solution’s ‘Work Readiness Action Programme - WRAP’ and Commsortia’s 
‘Working Progress Programme’ we introduced the ‘New Leaf’ project in August 2016.

New Leaf is a wrap-around support package, focusing on skills attainment and work readiness as the two 
prime areas for intervention that will lead to meaningful and lasting changes in the lives of young people. 
The project is aimed at supporting unemployed and economically inactive young people between 16 and 
29 years who are Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET) or are at risk of becoming NEET, helping 
participants in developing and achieving their goals of becoming employed.

Since the project launch in August 2016, New Leaf addressed the multiple and complex needs of 9 NEET young 
people through targeted interventions leading to meaningful and sustainable education and employment. 
Outcomes achieved through this project included an increase in employability skills; a decrease in ASB and 
participation in crime; improved Wellbeing and improved self-confidence. 
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TARGET – Targeting And Reducing Grooming, Exploitation & Trading Of Children & Young People Online

In 2015 Service Six had recognised a significant increase in demand by 
young people wanting support after experiencing online exploitation and 
abuse and we started to explore the wider scale, scope and impact of this 
trend. The need for action was crystal clear based on identified youth need, 
generic Child Sexual Exploitation data and national strategic gaps. 

To enable us to research this topic further we partnered with an operative 
from the Child Exploitation & Online Protection Centre (CEOP) and 
Northamptonshire Police DS, Carole Walton, and Dr Lee Hadlington, Senior 
Lecturer in Cognitive Psychology and Chartered Psychologist at De Montfort 
University, the Founder Member of the Psychology and Technology Research 
Group, East Midlands Police Academic Collaboration (EMPAC), Network Lead for Serious Organized Crime 
(Cybercrime). Needless to say, Carole and Lee’s support and guidance were and has continued to be critical 
to our progress.

Based on our initial assessment, we created the TARGET project - Targeting And Reducing Grooming, 
Exploitation & Trading of Children and Young People online. Between October 2015 and August 2016 we 
engaged over 1000 children and young people aged 5 years+ within Northamptonshire and Leicestershire.  
Also, signed up over 50 cross sector partner agencies to inform and support the project which provide diverse 
opportunities for collaboration and will enrich our work to date.

We are still in early stages but the latest research findings clearly depict a disturbing reflection of children and 
young people’s online experience. Over half of the young people told us they are regularly contacted online 
by strangers, over a third had received indecent sexual images including images with other children in them, 
over a quarter have sent indecent sexual media and 8% have met with strangers. 
We noticed only 1% difference between non-disadvantaged and disadvantaged children in terms of stranger 
contact. Comparatively, disadvantaged young people are at higher risk of engaging in sexual exploitation 
and abuse with even less protective behaviours and further reduced adult communication regarding their 
online activities. The main threat TARGET has exposed really does cut across all demographics and affects all 
children. Our findings were based on what young people were willing to tell us – the true extent could be far 
worse.

The research has provided us with a wealth of valuable information about how to respond to Online Sexual 
Exploitation and Abuse (OSEA) and the voice of the child tells us that they want our help and they are willing 
to input to our project. We are were delighted to have been awarded with a three year Big Lottery grant 
for our TARGET project to enable us to provide awareness initiatives around and support interventions for 
children and young people affected by OSEA. The TARGET project becomes full-time from April 2017 with a 
manager and project workers operating across Northamptonshire and Leicestershire and some works within 
Buckinghamshire. 

Service Six sees OSEA and the wider impact of unsupervised and unprotected 
activity by children and young people online as the greatest threat to this and 
future generations and a major public health risk. If we are to successfully 
challenge the many and increasing dangers to children online and overcome 
the future concerns that rapidly advancing technology presents, we must 
listen to our children and all work together in genuine collaboration to 
TARGET and overcome this emerging crisis.

'Online Ollie'

TARGET Logo Winner - Tiarna Moran, 10
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TARGET RESEARCH FINDINGS

Participants Were Able To Choose One Or More Responses On The Survey

MEETING THE COMMUNITY’S NEEDS

Accredited Youth Volunteering

We provided 87 young people with volunteering opportunities including vInspired National Accreditation. 
Young People received the Service Six Thank You Certificate, local and national accreditation such as V-10, 
V-30, V-50 and V-100 Awards. 87 young people gained a Service Six Thank You Certificate for completing 3 or 
more hours of volunteering in their community within a range of third sector agencies including litter picks 
and painting over graffiti.

8 young people were supported to become Young Leaders and to achieve their V-50 Award for completing 
50 hours or more of volunteering and 1 of those young people were supported to achieve their V-100 Award 
completing 100 or more hours of volunteering.

v100v50v10
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Author: Female, aged 11years who received support from The Opal Project

Broken

As I slip into a dream-filled slumber, I hope to never wake, 
because when I do, I will be thrown into a war-zone, where 
the school halls are battle grounds, and the bullets are the 
words that are thrown my way. Day after day I march on, 
breaking every second more, making not a sound, because 
I know that no matter how loud I yell, no one will chose to 
hear my cries and my screams of help. I make a mask, a fake 
me, and mould it to myself in the hope I will be excepted, 
that no one will see through to the real and broken me. 
Deep down in my heart I pound on the glass walls that are 
stopping me from reaching the world where I belong. A 
battalion of the un-expected, the broken and defeated, the 
rejects, the ones who don’t belong, yet I still can’t escape 
the vicious circle of pain and misery. My life is world by 
words; my skin ravaged by cuts, my only friend a blade. I 
can’t find a way out, and my heart is beginning to break. 
I don’t belong 
I can feel myself slipping 
away...

So, if a young person says ... "NO ONE LISTENS" – tell them: 

“SERVICE SIX WILL!"
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE Trustees

The Trustees, who are also directors of the charity for the purposes of the Companies Act 2006, present their 
report with the financial statements of the charity for the year ended 31 March 2017.

The Trustees have adopted the provisions of Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of 
Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (effective 1 January 2015).

Company law requires the Trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true 
and fair view of the state of affairs of the charitable company and of the incoming resources and application 
of resources, including the income and expenditure, of the charitable company for that period.  In preparing 
these financial statements, the Trustees are required to:

• Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
• Observe the methods and principles in the Charities SORP;
• Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
• State whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material 

departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;
• Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 

that the charitable company will continue in operation.

The Trustees are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy 
at any time the financial position of the charitable company and enable them to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the Companies Act 2006, the Charities Act 2011 and the Charity (Accounts and 
Reports) Regulations 2008. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charitable company 
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

STATEMENT OF DISCLOSURE TO AUDITORS

In so far as the Trustees are aware:

• There is no relevant audit information of which the charitable company’s auditor is unaware; and
• The Trustees have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any 

relevant audit information and to establish that the auditor is aware of that information.

Signed by order of the Trustees

…………………………………
Rachel Mallows MBE DL (Chairperson)

Date: 
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS TO THE Trustees OF SERVICE SIX

We have audited the financial statements of Service Six for the year ended 31 March 2017 on pages forty 
four to fifty two. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable 
law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

This report is made solely to the charitable company’s Trustees, as a body, in accordance with Section 144 
of the Charities Act 2011 and regulations made under Section 154 of that Act. Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the charitable company’s Trustees those matters we are required to 
state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we 
do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the charitable company and the charitable 
company’s Trustees as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of Trustees and auditors
As explained more fully in the Statement of Trustees Responsibilities set out on page forty the Trustees (who 
are also the directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company law) are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view.

The Trustees have elected for the financial statements to be audited in accordance with the Charities Act 
2011 rather than the Companies Act 2006. Accordingly we have been appointed as auditors under Section 
144 of the Charities Act 2011 and report in accordance with regulations made under Section 154 of that Act.

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable 
law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the 
Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient 
to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether 
caused by fraud or error.  This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to 
the charitable company’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Trustees; and the overall presentation of the 
financial statements.  In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Report of the 
Trustees to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. If we become aware of 
any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.
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Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:

 - give a true and fair view of the state of the charitable company’s affairs as at 31 March 2017 and of its 
incoming resources and application of resources, including its income and expenditure, for the year then 
ended;

 - have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice

 - have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Charities Act 2011 requires us to 
report to you if, in our opinion:

 - the information given in the Report of the Trustees is inconsistent in any material respect with the 
financial statements ; or

 - the charitable company has not kept adequate accounting records; or

 - the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

 - we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

DNG Dove Naish

Eligible to act as an auditor in terms of Section 1212 of the Companies Act 2006
Eagle House
28 Billing Road
Northampton
Northamptonshire
NN1 5AJ

Date: 
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NOTE UNRESTRICTED 
FUNDS £

RESTRICTED 
FUNDS £

TOTAL
2017 £

TOTAL
2016 £

Income and endowments from

Donations and legacies 1 1,151 - 1,151 248

Income from investments 2 7,407 - 7,407 8,323

Incoming resources from
charitable activities
Income from Charitable Activities 3 469,713 73,780 543,493 3,088,322

Total income and endowments 478,271 73,780 552,051 3,096,893

Expenditure on
Charitable activities 4 733,505 108,899 842,404 2,807,492

Total expenditure on Charitable 
activities

733,505 108,899 842,404 2,807,492

Net income/(expenditure) for the 
year

(255,234) (35,119) (290,353) 289,401

Balances brought forward at 1 
April 2016

964,543 46,919 1,011,462 722,061

Balances carried forward at 31 
March 2017 709,309 11,800 721,109 1,011,462

The company has no recognised gains or losses other than those included in the surplus above
     
There were no discontinued operations     
     
The notes on the following pages form part of these financial statements

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES
For The Year Ended 31 March 2017



45

NOTE UNRESTRICTED 
FUNDS £

RESTRICTED 
FUNDS £

TOTAL
2017 £

TOTAL
2016 £

Fixed Assets
Office furniture 7 1 - 1 1,741
Computer equipment 7 2,272 - 2,272 21,540

Total Fixed Assets 2,273 - 2,273 23,281

Current Assets
Debtors and prepayments 8 53,376 - 53,376 73,592
Cash at bank and in hand 774,534 - 774,534 1,176,785

827,910 - 827,910 1,250,377

Creditors
Amounts falling due within one 
year 9 (109,074) - (109,074) (262,196)

Net current assets 718,836 - 718,836 988,181

Total assets less current 
liabilities

721,109 - 721,109 1,011,462

Funds
Unrestricted funds 11

Designated fund 270,000 450,000
General unrestricted funds 439,309 514,543

Restricted funds 10 11,800 46,919

Total Funds 721,109 1,011,462

The charitable company is entitled to exemption from audit under Section 477 of the Companies Act 2006 for the year ended 
31 March 2017.

The members have not deposited notice, pursuant to Section 476 of the Companies Act 2006 requiring an audit of these financial 
statements.

The Trustees acknowledge their responsibilities for

(a) ensuring that the charitable company keeps accounting records that comply with Sections 386 and 387 of the Companies Act 
2006 and

(b) preparing financial statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the charitable company as at the end 
of each financial year and of its surplus or deficit for each financial year in accordance with the requirements of Sections 394 
and 395 and which otherwise comply with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 relating to financial statements, so far 
as applicable to the charitable company.

These financial statements have been audited under the requirements of Section 144 of  the Charities Act 2011.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Trustees on and were signed on its behalf by:
R Mallows MBE DL (Chair, Board of Trustees)

Trustee

BALANCE SHEET
As at 31 March 2017
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NOTE TOTAL
2017 £

TOTAL
2016 £

Cash (used in)/generated from operating activities 12 (409,658) 149,525

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest income 7,407 8,323
Purchase of tangible fixed assets - (6,261)

Cash provided by investing activities 7,407 2,062

(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
in the year

(402,251) 151,587

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 1,176,785 1,025,198

Total cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 13 774,534 1,176,785

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For The Year Ended 31 March 2017

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
For The Year Ended 31 March 2017

Basis of preparing the financial statements

The financial statements of the charitable company, which is a public benefit entity under FRS 102, have 
been prepared in accordance with the Charities SORP (FRS 102) ‘Accounting and Reporting by Charities: 
Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with 
the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (effective 1 January 
2015)’, Financial Reporting Standard 102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic 
of Ireland’ and the Companies Act 2006. The financial statements have been prepared under the historical 
cost convention.

Service Six is an incorporated charity, registered in England and Wales. The charity’s number and registered 
office address can be found on the Company Information page,

This is the first year in which the financial statements have been prepared under FRS 102. Refer to the notes 
for an explanation of the transition.

Company status
The charity is a company limited by guarantee. The members of the company are the Trustees named on page 1. In 
the event of the charity being wound up, the liability in respect of the guarantee is limited to £10 per member of the 
charity.

Fund accounting
General funds are unrestricted funds which are available for use at the discretion of the Trustees in furtherance of the 
general objectives of the charity and which have not been designated for other purposes.

Designated funds comprise unrestricted funds that have been set aside by the Trustees for particular purposes. The 
aim and use of each designated fund is set out in the notes to the financial statements.  

Restricted funds are funds which are to be used in accordance with specific restrictions imposed by donors or which 
have been raised by the charity for particular purposes. The cost of raising and administering such funds are charged 
against the specific fund. The aim and use of each restricted fund is set out in the notes to the financial statements.

Investment income and gains are allocated to the appropriate fund.
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Incoming resources

All incoming resources are included in the SOFA when the charity is legally entitled to the income and the amount can 
be quantified with reasonable accuracy. 

No amounts are included in the financial statements for services donated by volunteers.

Resources expended

All expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis and has been classified under headings that aggregate all costs 
related to the category. Where costs cannot be directly attributed to particular headings they have been allocated to 
activities on a basis consistent with use of the resources.

Fund-raising costs are those incurred in seeking voluntary contributions and do not include the costs of disseminating 
information in support of the charitable activities. Support costs are those costs incurred directly in support of 
expenditure on the objects of the charity and include project management carried out at Headquarters. 

Tangible fixed assets and depreciation
Tangible fixed assets costing more than £1,000 are capitalised and included at cost including any incidental expenses 
of acquisition. Depreciation is charged at 33% per annum on cost of the asset using the straight line method.  Smaller 
items are treated as an expense in the year of acquisition.

Pension costs
The company operates a defined contribution scheme for the benefit of its employees. The costs of contributions are 
written off against profits in the year they are payable.

Taxation
The charity is exempt from corporation tax on its charitable activities. 

Financial Instruments
Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at banks and in hand and short term deposits 
with an original maturity date of three months or less.

Debtors and creditors with no stated interest rate and receivable or payable within one year are recorded 
at transaction price. Any losses arising from impairment are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income under administrative expenses.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual 
arrangements entered into. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the 
assets of the entity after deducting all of its financial liabilities.

Where the contractual obligations of financial instruments are equivalent to a similar debt instrument, 
those financial instruments are classed as financial liabilities. Financial liabilities are presented as such in 
the balance sheet. Finance costs and gains or losses relating to financial liabilities are included in the profit 
and loss account. Finance costs are calculated so as to produce a constant rate of return on the outstanding 
liability.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES Cont'd
For The Year Ended 31 March 2017
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NOTE Income from Donations and Legacies
TOTAL

2017
£

TOTAL
2016

£

1 Donations
Gifts 1,151 248

All income from gifts is unrestricted. The Charity benefits from the involvement and support of volunteers, details 
of which are given in the annual report. In accordance with FRS 102 and the Charities SORP (FRS 102) the economic 
contribution of general volunteers is not recognised in the accounts.

2 Investment Income
All of the charity’s investment income of £7,407 (2016 - £8,323) arises from money held in interest bearing deposit 
accounts

3 Income from Charitable Activities TOTAL
2017

TOTAL
2016

£ £

Unrestricted funds
NCC – Supporting Services Contract 30,530 2,554,242

NHFT PSAP 82,000 82,000

NHS – Nene CCG 244,212 261,425

East Northamptonshire Council

- Counselling 20,000 20,000

- Local Solution Fund                 - 10,886

PCC 19,197 1,100

NHS England 25,000 -

Commissioned Services 12,801 37,629

Raunds Town Council 12,471 -

Wellingborough CSP 7,497 -

The Victoria Centre 5,820 -

Milton Keynes Community Fund 4,815 -

Sky Program 2,730 -

Deanshanger 2,640 -

469,713 2,967,282

Restricted Funds
Big Lottery Fund – Milton Keynes 44,877 -

ESIF Goodwill Solutions 2,358 -

Children in Need – Smiles Pilot Project - 15,624

Big Lottery Fund – Youth Starz 26,545 105,416

73,780 121,040

Total Income from Charitable Activities 543,493 3,088,322

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
For The Year Ended 31 March 2017

Resources Expended UNRESTRICTED 
FUNDS £

RESTRICTED 
FUNDS £

TOTAL
2017 £

TOTAL
2016 £

4 Charitable activities
Staff wages 280,912 42,516 323,428 559,425

Employer costs 21,053 3,628 24,681 47,195

Pension costs 16,695 2,572 19,267 29,193
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NOTE Resources Expended Cont'd UNRESTRICTED 
FUNDS £

RESTRICTED 
FUNDS £

TOTAL
2017 £

TOTAL
2016 £

4 Charitable activities cont'd
Sessional staff 137,196 30,898 168,094 167,092

Subcontracted companies 500 - 500 1,581,038

Rent 9,113 377 9,490 19,482

Service resources 369 574 943 4,016

Volunteer travel expenses 800 - 800 1,425

Support staff travel expenses 11,656 1,875 13,531 34,422

Sessional staff travel expenses 1,469 135 1,604 1,949

Young people’s - travel expenses 840 2,505 3,345 8,098

                            - activities 1,890 3,819 5,709 15,101

                            - rent 1,640 2,546 4,186 6,181

                            - expenses other - 330 330 357

                            - refreshments 2,112 819 2,931 2,205

                            - Big Lottery Fund - 3,053 3,053 3,793

Events 570 - 570 1,535

Mobile phone expenses 5,716 - 5,716 4,427

Subscriptions 2,541 - 2,541 2,031

Repairs and maintenance - - - 4,450

Legal and professional fees 1,456 - 1,456 745

Training and supervision 24,205 4,520 28,725 32,820

Publicity and marketing 4,555 876 5,431 4,582

Sundry expenses 1,996 103 2,099 2,453

527,284 101,146 628,430 2,534,015

Support costs allocated to
Charitable activities
Heat, light and water rates 3,683 3,092 6,775 11,087

Repairs and maintenance 5,966 338 6,304 8,649

Staff wages 107,550 - 107,550 135,612

Employer costs 10,784 - 10,784 13,395

Pension costs 6,393 - 6,393 8,076

Staff recruitment costs 360 1,800 2,160 6,686

Staff travel expenses 2,201 - 2,201 3,345

Telephone and internet 4,152 313 4,465 4,777

Insurance 5,655 12 5,667 6,203

Postage and stationery 5,518 1,175 6,693 10,023

Capital expenditure 933 141 1,074 3,895

Computer running costs 19,191 360 19,551 15,950

Sundry expenses 1,068 - 1,068 2,038
Legal and professional fees
(including Governance) 6,859 522 7,381 21,671

Quality assurance 4,158 - 4,158 -

Depreciation 21,008 - 21,008 21,240

Bank charges 742 - 742 830

206,221 7,753 213,974 273,477

Total expenditure on
Charitable activities

733,505 108,899 842,404 2,807,492
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NOTE

5 Governance Costs
The following costs are included in ‘Legal and professional fees’ in note 4

2017 £ 2016 £
Auditor’s remuneration 5,040 4,609

Accounting and other professional fees 1,440 1,920

6,480 6,529

6 Staff Costs and Trustees’ Remuneration
Wages and salaries 430,978 695,037

Social security costs 35,465 60,590

Pension costs 25,660 37,269

492,103 792,896

The average monthly number of employees was 19 (2016:30).

No employee received remuneration amounting to more than £60,000 in either year.

The key management personnel of the charity comprise the Trustees, the Chief Executive and the Assistant Chief 
Executive . The total employment benefits of the key management personnel of the charity were £99,640 (2016 - 
£109,427)
No Trustees received any remuneration in the year but £617 was paid in the year to four Trustees, for reimbursement 
of travelling expenses (2016 – five Trustees reimbursed travel expenses of £927)

7 Fixed Assets
Office Furniture £ Computer Equipment £ Total £

Cost

At 1 April 2016 5,977 58,389 64,366

Additions - - -

At  31 March 2017 5,977 58,389 64,366

Depreciation

At 1 April 2016 4,236 36,849 41,085

Charge for year 1,740 19,268 21,008

At  31 March 2017 5,976 56,117 62,093

Net Book Value as at 31
March 2016 1,741 21,540 23,281

Net Book Value as at 31
March 2017

1 2,272 2,273

8 Debtors 2017 £ 2016 £
Trade Debtors 51,211 70,502

Prepayments and accrued income 2,165 2,990

Other Debtors - 100

53,376 73,592

9 Creditors: amounts due less than one year
Credit card creditor 409 1,903
Trade creditors 21,170 149,511
Accruals 9,015 71,390
Deferred income 78,480 39,392

109,074 262,196

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
For The Year Ended 31 March 2017
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NOTE Restricted funds
10 The funds of the charity included restricted funds comprising the following incoming resources, expenditure and 

unexpended balances of donations and grants held on trusts to be applied for specific purposes.

Movement in Funds
At 1 April

2016 £
Incoming 

resources £
Expenditure

£
At 31 March

2017 £
Children in Need – Smiles Pilot Project 9,806 - 9,806 -

Big Lottery Fund 37,113 26,545 63,658 -

Big Lottery Fund Milton Keynes Youth 
Starz - 44,877 31,029 13,848

Big Lottery Fund TARGET - - 3,816 (3,816)

ESIF WRAP Goodwill Solutions - 2,358 578 1,780

ESIF WRAP Commsortia - - 12 (12)

46,919 73,780 108,899 11,800

The three year BBC Children in Need project, Smiles, is a pilot service providing Play Therapy for children aged 4 to 
9 years who have or are experiencing inter personal violence within their families or are living in a care home. The 
project is countywide with a particular emphasis on the Northampton, Corby and Wellingborough districts.

The three year Big Lottery Fund project offers services to disadvantaged young people; to address and develop 
transferable life skills and provide healthy positive activities in the Northampton, Wellingborough and Kettering areas.

The three year Big Lottery Fund Milton Keynes project offers services to disadvantaged young people; to address and 
develop transferable life skills and provide healthy positive activities in the Milton Keynes area.

The three year Big Lottery Fund TARGET project’s aim is Targeting and Reducing Grooming, Exploitation and Trading 
of children and young people online across Northamptonshire and Leicestershire. 

The ESIF WRAP Goodwill Solutions and Commsortia projects offer a work readiness program for people 16 and over 
not in education, employment or training offering a wrap around support package to help develop potential and 
achieve goals in the Northamptonshire area.

11 Unrestricted funds Movement in Unrestricted Funds
At 1 April

2016 £
Incoming 

Resources £
Resources 

Expended £
Transfers

£
At 31 March

2017 £
General Fund 514,543 478,271 433,505 (120,000) 439,309

Therapeutic Service 
Obligations 60,000 - - - 60,000

Redundancy Provision 90,000 - - - 90,000

Charitable Objectives 300,000 - 300,000 120,000 120,000

964,543 478,271 733,505 - 709,309

The Trustees have set aside designated funds for the following purposes:

Therapeutic Service Obligations - an estimate of the outlay required to complete any therapeutic service                                        
obligations should the charity cease to operate.

Redundancy Provision – to fund the potential estimated outlay to meet notice and redundancy liabilities for all 
contracted personnel.

Charitable Objectives – to provide a range of Needs Led services to meet the charity's objectives and respond to 
beneficiaries impacted by the reduction in statutory services. 

12 Reconciliation of net movement in funds to net cash flow from operating activities
2017 £ 2016 £

Net movement in funds (290,353) 289,401

Add back depreciation charge 21,008 21,240

Deduct interest income shown in investing activities (7,407) (8,323)

Decrease/(increase) in debtors 20,216 (68,239)

Decrease in creditors (153,122) (84,554)

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities (409,658) 149,525
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NOTE

13 Analysis of cash and cash equivalents

2017 £ 2016 £
Cash in hand 271,735 1,176,785

Notice deposits (less than 3 months) 502,799 -

Total cash and cash equivalents 774,534 1,176,785

14 Called up share capital
The company is limited by guarantee and does not have any issued share capital. Every member of the company 
undertakes to contribute to the assets of the company (should this be wound up during membership or within one 
year after ceasing to be a member), for payment of debts and liabilities of the company contracted before ceasing to 
be a member. The contribution payable is limited to a sum not exceeding £10.

15 Contingent liabilities and capital commitments
The company had no contingent liabilities or capital commitments at 31 March 2017 or 31 March 2016.

16 Leasing Commitments
Total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Land and Buildings
2017 £ 2016 £

Within 1 year 5,611 5,611

In 1-5 years - -

Over 5 years - -

5,611 5,611

17 Related Parties

The following transactions have occurred during the year with related parties:

IT technical support is supplied by a business owned by the partner of the charity’s former Chief Executive, Jane 
Deamer. The amount incurred during the year was £19,784 (2016 - £16,397).

No training was supplied during the year by The Mallows Company, a business owned by one of the Trustees, Rachel 
Mallows, (2016 - £780). Recharges of costs incurred were made to The Mallows Company of £110 in the year 
(2016 - £nil).

18 First Year Adoption

This is the first year in which the financial statements have been prepared under FRS 102. There have been no 
adjustments to the reported loss for the year or opening and closing funds as a result of the transition

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
For The Year Ended 31 March 2017



THANK YOU TO ALL OUR FUNDERS AND SUPPORTERS OVER THE PAST YEAR NOT ALREADY INCLUDED

Wellingborough
Safer Stronger Neighbourhood Partnership




